
OFFICIAL 
OFFICIAL 

North Yorkshire County Council 

Children and Young Peoples Service - Executive Members & Corporate Director Meetings -  

 

Tuesday, 24 May 2022 / 1.00 pm 

A G E N D A 

 

 

1   Apologies for Absence  

 

2   Declarations of Interest  

 

Items for Executive Member decision  

3   Woodfield Community Primary School, Harrogate (Pages 3 - 8) 

 

To seek approval to consult publicly on a proposal to close Woodfield 
Community Primary School in Harrogate from 31 December 2022. 

 

(Pages 

3 - 8) 

Presenting Officer – 

Andrew Dixon 

Items for Corporate Director decision  

4   School term dates for the academic year 2023- 2024 (Pages 9 - 12) 

 

To brief the Corporate Director and Executive Member for Education 

& Skills on responses to the proposed school term and holiday dates 

for 2023/24 and to seek their approval to the proposed calendar. 

 

(Pages 

9 - 12) 

Presenting Officer – 

Andrew Dixon 

Any Other Business  

5   Date of future formal meetings  

 

7 June 

28 June 

5 July 
2 August 

6 September 
4 October 

1 November 

6 December 

 

  

 
Circulation: 

 

Executive Members Officer attendees Presenting Officers 
J Stuart Carlton 

Howard Emmett 
M Sadler 

 Andrew Dixon 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

OFFICIAL 

NORTH YORKSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SERVICE 
 

CORPORATE DIRECTOR MEETING WITH EXECUTIVE MEMBERS 
 

24 May 2022 
 

PROPOSAL TO CLOSE WOODFIELD COMMUNITY PRIMARY SCHOOL, 
HARROGATE 

 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To seek Member approval to consult publicly on a proposal to close Woodfield 

Community Primary School in Harrogate from 31 December 2022.  
 
2.0 BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Woodfield Community Primary School is subject to a Directive Academy Order 

following an Inadequate Ofsted judgement from an inspection in January 2020. Any 
maintained school that is judged inadequate by Ofsted is required to become a 
sponsored academy or, if an academy sponsor cannot be found, a school judged 
inadequate usually has to close. The Regional Schools Commissioner has been 
unable to secure an Academy Trust to sponsor Woodfield School due to viability 
concerns. Where a school would not be viable as an academy, it is expected that the 
Local Authority will close the school and the Secretary of State can direct them to do 
so if necessary. 

 
2.2 Since January 2020, there have been considerable changes in staffing at Woodfield 

School. The current acting executive headteacher took up leadership at the start of 
the summer term 2020. Monitoring visits by Ofsted to Woodfield School in June and 
November 2021 found that leaders and those responsible for governance are taking 
effective action towards the removal of special measures and the local authority’s 
statement of action and the school’s action plan are both fit for purpose. While it is 
important to recognise the efforts of all those who have been involved in this 
improvement journey, the current arrangements can only be temporary and the 
absence of an academy sponsor means the school faces an uncertain future.   

 
2.3 The Governing Bodies of Woodfield Community Primary and Grove Road 

Community Primary explored with Local Authority Officers combining the two schools 
in order to share the benefits of both school sites. The move would have meant 
Woodfield School would technically close and become part of Grove Road from 
September 2022. An extensive consultation process was undertaken involving public 
meetings and gathering the views of parents and the local community during 
December 2021 and January 2022. After careful consideration Grove Road 
Community Primary School decided in March, with regret, to withdraw its support for 
the amalgamation. In light of this, the County Council’s Executive decided to reject 
the amalgamation proposal at its meeting on 19 April 2022. 

2.4 Following this, the Governing Body of Woodfield Community Primary School has 
looked again at what options are available for the school, and concluded that they 
have now exhausted all options. They have therefore had to request that the County 
Council undertake a consultation on a proposal that the school should close. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 2 

OFFICIAL 

 
3.0 SCHOOL PLACE SUFFICIENCY 
 
3.1 As at 12 May 2022 there were 37 pupils of mainstream school age at Woodfield 

Community Primary School. Current pupil numbers in each year group (as at 12 May) 
are set out below. 

 
Year group 
2021-22 

Woodfield 
School 

Reception 4 
Year 1 1 
Year 2 7 
Year 3 2 
Year 4 8 
Year 5 4 
Year 6 11 
Total 37 

 
The school also offers nursery provision for children aged 3 and 4, and there are nine 
children in nursery. 
 

3.2 Children living in the Woodfield school catchment area attend a range of primary 
schools, reflecting the choice of schools available nearby. There were 349 primary-
aged pupils living in the Woodfield School catchment area in October 2020 and only 
6% attended Woodfield School. Children also attended a range of other schools, 
including Richard Taylor CE (24%), Bilton Grange (22%) and Grove Road (16%). 

 
3.3 Woodfield School has capacity for 150 pupils, although the school has been operating 

with fewer pupils than this for a number of years. There are no significant housing 
permissions within the Woodfield School catchment area, although there are several 
housing developments underway or planned in neighbouring school catchment areas. 
If the closure proposal went ahead, there would be a reduction of 150 primary school 
places available in the local area. Appendix 1 provides further details on pupil 
forecasts. Given current forecasts, including the likely demand from new housing, and 
current patterns of parental preference, there would appear to be sufficient primary 
places available in the local area, should the closure of Woodfield School be 
approved, as overall birth rates are falling in Harrogate district, and pupils living in the 
Woodfield School catchment area already attend a wide variety of primary schools.  

 
3.4 There are a range of primary schools close to Woodfield. Across the local area there 

are places available for all the pupils currently at Woodfield Community Primary 
School, although some schools will be fuller than others in some year groups. The 
most recent admissions round, for entry to the reception year group in September 
2022, continued the recent trend of general surplus capacity with the majority of local 
schools undersubscribed for the normal year of entry. 

 
3.5 The Local Authority and the School have agreed that, subject to the Executive 

Member agreeing to start the consultation process, an admissions preference 
exercise should be undertaken for parents of pupils currently attending the school. 
Through this exercise parents/carers would be asked to apply for the preferred school 
that they would like their child to transfer to in the event of closure, or earlier if that is 
their wish. Once the full picture of all preferences is known, the LA would liaise with 
the schools regarding potential allocations, and seek to meet the highest stated 
preferences wherever possible. The overall intention would be to ensure fairness 

Page 4



 3 

OFFICIAL 

around the school transfer process in the event that a decision is ultimately taken to 
close the School. It would allow the Local Authority to apply consideration of 
admissions criteria to each request and avoid first come first served. Applying this co-
ordinated preference exercise approach would achieve that, provide parents/carers 
with the support that has been requested, and reduce the period of uncertainty for 
families. 

 
3.6 The catchment area of an existing school or schools would, in the event of closure, 

need to be extended to include the current Woodfield Community Primary School 
catchment area. Views on which school or schools would be most appropriate will be 
invited during the consultation period. Options for consideration could include: 

• The whole of the current Woodfield School catchment area to become part of the 
catchment area for Grove Road Primary School 

• The whole of the current Woodfield School catchment area to become part of the 
catchment area for Bilton Grange Primary School 

• Some form of shared or split arrangement involving both Grove Road and Bilton 
Grange Schools. 
 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Pupil numbers determine the level of funding that a school receives. Woodfield 

School has projected in-year budget deficits of £96.8k in the financial year 2021/22, 
£66.3k in 2022/23 and £86.8k in 2023/24, and a forecast cumulative budget deficit of 
£75.8k in 2021/22, £142.1k in 2022/23, and £228.9k in 2023/24. 

 
5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 These proposals would follow the DfE’s statutory guidance for proposers and 

decision makers.1  
 
5.2 Under the schools causing concern guidance and related legislation,2 any maintained 

school like Woodfield that has been judged inadequate by Ofsted is required to 
become a sponsored academy. The Regional Schools Commissioner has been 
unable to secure an Academy Trust to sponsor Woodfield School due to viability 
concerns. Where the Secretary of State considers that a school would not be viable 
as an academy, it is expected the local authority will close the school and the 
Secretary of State can direct them to do so if necessary. An academy order can also 
be revoked where a school has been re-inspected by Ofsted and judged Good or 
Outstanding, and the Secretary of State is satisfied that the improvement can be 
sustained without the support of a strong sponsor. As noted above, while Ofsted has 
recognised the improvements that have been made at Woodfield, the current 
leadership arrangements can only be temporary. 

 
 
 
 
                                                           
1 DfE, Making significant changes (‘prescribed alterations’) to maintained schools Statutory guidance 
for proposers and decision-makers (Oct 2018) and Opening and closing maintained schools Statutory 
guidance for proposers and decision-makers (Nov 2019). 
2 DfE, Schools causing concern Guidance for local authorities and Regional Schools Commissioners 
on how to work with schools to support improvements to educational performance, and on using their 
intervention powers (March 2022). 

Page 5



 4 

OFFICIAL 

6.0 PROPOSED CONSULTATION PROCESS AND TIMESCALES 
 
6.1 A draft consultation document is being prepared, and will be presented at the meeting. 
 
6.2 The closure proposal would follow the timescale below: 
 

Executive Member approval 
to consult 

Tues 24 May 2022 
 

Call in period ends 1 June  
Consultation period including 
public meetings 
 

 Mon 6 June – 4 July 2022  
(4 weeks in term time) 

Executive decision to publish 
statutory notices  
 
(If approved the following 
timetable would apply) 
 

Tues 19 July 2022 
 

Call in period ends 27 July 2022 
Statutory Notices published 
(4 weeks for representations 
to be made) 

Thurs 8 September 
(Harrogate Advertiser 

published on Thursdays) 
Representation period starts Thurs 8 September 
Representation period ends Thurs 6 October 
Final decision by County 
Council’s Executive (or by 
the Executive Member if 
there are no objections to the 
statutory proposals) 

Tuesday 18 October  

Call in period ends 26 October 
Implementation of proposals 31 December 2022 

 
6.3 Given the urgency of the position and the need to provide as much clarity as 

possible to parents before the summer holidays, it is proposed to conduct a public 
consultation for four weeks during term time rather than the conventional six week 
period usually followed by the County Council. A shorter consultation period is also 
considered appropriate in this case as the challenges facing Woodfield School 
have recently been set out during consultation on the rejected amalgamation 
proposal. The DfE statutory guidance on Opening and Closing Schools does not 
prescribe a timescale for this consultation and states ‘It is for the proposer to 
determine the nature and length of the consultation’.  

 
6.4 The County Council is the employer for staff at Woodfield Community Primary 

School and a separate HR consultation process for staff and their professional 
associations will follow. 

 
6.5 Parents at Woodfield School were notified on 12 May 2022 of the decision by the 

governing body to ask the County Council to consult on a closure proposal. A set of 
frequently asked questions will be issued by Local Authority Officers to help answer 
general queries about the proposal. 

 
6.6 The County Council owns the school site, which also accommodates Bilton and 

Woodfield Community Library, Harrogate Bilton children and family hub, and Oak 

Page 6



 5 

OFFICIAL 

Beck House. Decisions about the future use of the school premises will be taken 
after the closure proposal has been determined.  

 
7.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
7.1 The Executive Member for Education and Skills is recommended to give 

approval to consult publicly on:  
 

• proposals to close Woodfield Community Primary School in Harrogate 
from 31 December 2022  

• the potential catchment area arrangements that would apply from 
January 2023 in the event of closure 

 
 

STUART CARLTON 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR – CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SERVICE. 
 
Report prepared by John Lee, Strategic Planning Officer  
 
 
 
Appendix 1: Pupil forecasts 
 

Background papers: 

Report to CYPS Executive Members 23 November 2021 

Report to Executive 22 February 2022 

Report to Executive 19 April 2022 

 

Page 7



Appendix 1: Pupil forecasts 

 6 

OFFICIAL 

Pupil forecasts 

          Forecast based on January 2022 NOR Housing 

Schools Net 
Capacity 

Max 
Workplaces 

NOR 
2022 
- Jan 

Current    
-/+ 

Capacity 
22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26 26/27 27/28 31/32 Outstanding 

Permissions 
Pupil 
Yield* 

Anticipated 
Position 
31/32 

LDF 
Proposals 

where 
known 

Pupil 
Yield* 

Anticipated 
Position 
31/32 

Bilton 
Grange 
Primary  

310 310 323 -13 315 309 302 297 291 293 270 2 1 40 0 0 40 

Grove 
Road CP  280 298 293 -13 286 274 266 259 253 250 237 265 66 -23 198 50 -73 

Richard 
Taylor CE 
Primary  

263 263 275 -12 275 269 266 264 258 254 242 0 0 21 0 0 21 

St. Robert's 
Catholic 
Primary 

280 300 279 1 276 278 272 271 266 259 250 0 0 30 0 0 30 

Woodfield 
Primary  150 150 37 113 27 24 19 19 16 16 15 5 1 134 0 0 134 

  1283 1321 1207 76 1179 1154 1125 1110 1084 1072 1014 272 68 201 198 50 152 

 

*Based on 1 primary-aged pupil from every 4 houses 

 

 

 

P
age 8



1 

OFFICIAL 

NORTH YORKSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SERVICE 
 

CORPORATE DIRECTOR’S MEETING WITH EXECUTIVE MEMBERS  
 

Tuesday 24 May 2022 
 

School Term and Holiday Dates 2023/2024  
 

 
1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT   
 
1.1 To brief the Corporate Director and Executive Member for Education & Skills on 

responses to the proposed school term and holiday dates for 2023/24 and to seek 
their approval to the proposed calendar. 

 
2.0 ISSUES AND BACKGROUND  
 
2.1 School employers are required to set the term dates of their school year. Employers 

are: the local authority in community, voluntary controlled and community special 
schools and maintained nursery schools; the governing body in foundation and 
voluntary aided schools; the academy trust in academies and Free Schools. The 
Education (School Day and School Year) (England) regulations 1991 require all 
maintained schools to educate their pupils for at least 380 sessions (190 days) in each 
school year.  These regulations do not apply to academies and Free Schools; the 
academy trust is responsible for deciding the length of the school year. It is hoped that 
for consistency across North Yorkshire all schools will adopt the recommended term 
dates. 

 
2.2 In addition to these teaching days each school has five professional development (PD) 

days for teaching staff.  As in previous years the authority has proposed three of these 
days. The remaining two days will be identified by each school from the calendar. 

 
2.3 The Local Government Association (LGA) continues to urge local authorities (LA’s) to 

try to achieve a common approach when determining term dates. North Yorkshire 
County Council is part of the group of LA’s across Yorkshire which has agreed a set of 
guiding principles the aim of which is to achieve more consistent holiday dates across 
local LA areas.  These guiding principles were applied to the production of our 
proposals for consultation.  

 
2.4 Currently the local authority is still required to set term and holiday dates for community 

schools, community special schools, voluntary controlled schools, pupil referral units 
and maintained nursery schools. 

 
2.5 Members are reminded that it had been intended that when the Deregulation Act 2015 

came into force, the education clauses would allow all schools to vary school dates. 
However, the provision within the Act to give the governing bodies of community, 
voluntary controlled, community special schools, and maintained nursery schools in 
England the responsibility for setting their own school term and holiday dates was not 
commenced. These schools have not therefore been given the power to set their own 
term dates.  

  
 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



2 

OFFICIAL 

 
 

3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
3.1 The authority continues to propose three professional development days. The purpose 

of this is to continue to achieve efficiency savings by rationalising transport across the 
county and to make life easier for parents who have children attending different 
schools. It also enables greater consistency in planning for services such as transport 
and school meals. 

 
4.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 As noted above at paragraph 2.1, the LA currently has a duty to set dates of terms and 

holidays for community, voluntary controlled, community special schools and 
maintained nursery schools under the Education Act 2002 Section 32. 

 
5.0 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN AND RESPONSES 
 
5.1 Following discussions with other LA’s and based on our agreed guidelines, a single  

version of a draft calendar was produced which identified 190 days when teachers are 
available to work and three proposed professional development (PD) days. The 
headteacher of each school has the discretion to determine two further PD days from 
the calendar.  A copy of the draft calendar is at Appendix 1.  

 
5.2 The consultation to determine a school calendar for 2023/24 was launched on 2 

February 2022 and closed on 09 March 2022.  All maintained schools and academies, 
teachers’ associations, trade unions and other local authorities across Yorkshire and 
the North East were consulted.   

 
5.3 The authority received 11 online responses from the on line snap survey.  These came 

from a mixture of both primary and secondary schools and responses from the 
NASUWT and NY Teachers Associations Consultative Panel.   

 
5.4      There were no individual responses from teachers or comments from other authorities.   
 
5.5 5 of the online respondents expressed their agreement with the proposed Calendar, 1 

school only confirmed their training days and 2 responses suggested the proposed 
training days be an alternative day to Monday and consideration be given to the break 
down in the number of weeks per term. 2 schools suggested finishing at Christmas on 
20 December as opposed to the suggested 22 December 2023.  

 
6.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS/BENEFITS 
 
6.1 Many school buses and other vehicles provide a shared service to more than one 

school. One of the benefits of having three common PD days is that it enables transport 
to operate at optimum capacity and reduces the environmental impact.  
 

7.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
7.1 The draft calendar has taken account of consultation and feedback via both Schools 

and the draft calendar is broadly in line with proposals from our neighbouring LA’s in 
which the majority of cross border pupils reside. 

 

Page 10



3 

OFFICIAL 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION    
 
8.1 That the term and holiday dates for community, voluntary controlled, community 

special schools and maintained nursery schools for 2023/24 ,as set out in the calendar 
identified at Appendix 1, be approved.   

 
 
 
 
 
STUART CARLTON 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR – CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SERVICE 
 
Report prepared by Lisa Herdman Admissions and Transport Manager 
10 May 2022 
 
  
. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



#OFFICIAL

Monday 7 14 21 28 4 11 18 25 2 9 16 23 30 6 13 20 27 4 11 18 25 1 8 15 22 29
Tuesday 1 8 15 22 29 5 12 19 26 3 10 17 24 31 7 14 21 28 5 12 19 26 2 9 16 23 30
Wednesday 2 9 16 23 30 6 13 20 17 4 11 18 25 1 8 15 22 29 6 13 20 27 3 10 17 24 31
Thursday 3 10 17 24 31 7 14 21 28 5 12 19 26 2 9 16 23 30 7 14 21 28 4 11 18 25

4 11 18 25 1 8 15 22 29 6 13 20 27 3 10 17 24 1 8 15 22 29 5 12 19 26
Saturday 5 12 19 26 2 9 16 23 30 7 14 21 28 4 11 18 25 2 9 16 23 30 6 13 20 27
Sunday 6 13 20 27 3 10 17 24 1 8 15 22 29 5 12 19 26 3 10 17 24 31 7 14 21 28

Monday 5 12 19 26 4 11 18 25 1 8 15 22 29 6 13 20 27 3 10 17 24 1 8 15 22 29
Tuesday 6 13 20 27 5 12 19 26 2 9 16 23 30 7 14 21 28 4 11 18 25 2 9 16 23 30
Wednesday 7 14 21 28 6 13 20 27 3 10 17 24 1 8 15 22 29 5 12 19 26 3 10 17 24 31
Thursday 1 8 15 22 29 7 14 21 28 4 11 18 25 2 9 16 23 30 6 13 20 27 4 11 18 25
Friday 2 9 16 23 1 8 15 22 29 5 12 19 26 3 10 17 24 31 7 14 21 28 5 12 19 26
Saturday 3 10 17 24 2 9 16 23 30 6 13 20 27 4 11 18 25 1 8 15 22 29 6 13 20 27
Sunday 4 11 18 25 3 10 17 24 31 7 14 21 28 5 12 19 26 2 9 16 23 30 7 14 21 28

 Bank Holiday
 School Holiday
 Professional development/training days

SEPTEMBER 2023

Friday

APRIL 2024

DECEMBER 2023

DRAFT
OCTOBER 2023

Pupils must be taught for a minimum of 190 days.The number of term days shown is 192.  
Three recommended professional development (PD) days for teaching staff have also been highlighted; 

pupils will not attend school on these days. 
Schools will need to identify a further two PD days from the calendar.  Please could you send your 

remaining two PD days to the Education Office , Harrogate via email schoolwelfare@northyorks.gov.uk 
when you have agreed them.  

School Term and Holiday Dates
2023/2024 

JANUARY 2024

FEBRUARY 2024 JULY 2024

AUGUST 2023 NOVEMBER 2023

MAY 2024MARCH 2024 JUNE 2024

P
age 12


	Agenda
	3 Woodfield Community Primary School, Harrogate
	4 School term dates for the academic year 2023- 2024
	Executive Members report school term and holiday dates 2023-24
	Draft Copy of NYCC School Term Dates  calendar 2023-24
	2022-23



